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Fort Smith Railroads During World War II 

On May 14, 1943, Frisco ñBull Mooseò doodlebug 2124 enters Fort Smithôs Union Station from its run north 

from Paris, Texas. The Winding Stair Mountain grades in Oklahoma were hard on motor cars thus limiting their 

usefulness.  The Frisco would return to a conventional diesel locomotive-led consist. - Herb Huber  photo 
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FORT SMITH RAILWAY 

TRAFFIC, 1940-1945 

By Charles E. Winters 

December 2, 1996 

EDITORôS NOTE: In this issue of the Arkansas 

Scrambler, we are very fortunate to have first-hand, 

eye-witness recollections of what railroading was like 

in Fort Smith during the wartime years.  The late 

Charles Winters provides us a glimpse into the past 

when rail traffic and capacity for the war effort were 

stretched to the maximum. Sit back, grab a cup of cof-

fee and enjoy reading about a bygone era of railroad-

ing. 

Lloyd Stagner, Bill White and others have commented 

on the importance of taking notes; how I wish I had 

taken more period before I forget the details, here a 

few memories for the record. 

Giles Stagner, brother to Lloyd Stagner, was a soldier 

at Camp Chaffee shortly after the completion of re-

building and improvement of the Missouri Pacificôs 

ñHelen Gould Bridgeò across the Arkansas River. Pri-

or to that time, Missouri Pacific motive power was 

restricted to engines not exceeding bridge classifica-

tion E-45, meaning nothing heavier than the Spot 

Class Consolidation Type (1-173), or the Pacific Type 

(6401-6445) could be operated into the city. 

During construction of Camp Chaffee, MoPac motive 

power on the Camp Switcher was either a 401-487 

Consolidation Type, a 5501-5540 Atlantic Type, or a 

6501-6521 Pacific Type. 

Camp Jesse Turner was constructed at Van Buren in 

1943, and occupied by US Army Railroad Operating 

Battalion Trainees who learned the skills of railroad-

ing as they rode with regular crewmen on all MoPac 

movements. Centralized Traffic Control (CTC) equip-

ment was installed between Greenwood Junction and 

Barling. 

In addition to the daily Arkansas Central (MoPac) lo-

cal mixed train between Van Buren and Paris, during 

coal mining production seasons it was common to see 

doubleheader coal drags powered by two Consolida-

tion Type engines. At times, there were no available 

cabooses, and for several days the Camp Switcher 

trainmen road in an empty New York Central baggage 

car they had commandeered from an empty troop 

train. 

Eventually the Missouri Pacific converted some out-

side braced St. Louis, Brownsville & Mexico, New 

Orleans, Texas and Mexico and International-Great 

Northern box cars into side door War Emergency ca-

booses. In 1942, as the 6th Armored Division moved 

from Camp Chaffee for embarkation to Europe, heavy 

Mikado Type engine 1559 was towed dead from Van 

Buren to Fort Smith, then watered, fueled and fired up 

for use between Camp Chaffee and the city. Once the 

Gould Bridge improvements were complete, heavy 

Pacific type engines 6601-6629, Mountain Type en-

gines 5308-5316, and Mikado type engines 1401-1571 

worked through Fort Smith in regular service. 

The MoPac used the 9501-9545 series 0-6-0 Type 

Switchers until 1940. During a sharp traffic increase, 

congestion enabled a scheming hoghead to con local 

management into assigning 9406-9475 engines to Fort 

Smith. The conspirator assured authorities that with 

use of a more powerful engine, he could get the work 

done. Local management discarded the 133,700 pound 

9500ôs; assigning the slightly heavier 151,650 pound 

9400ôs thus awarding him a paltry 50-odd cents wage 

increase per day. Afterwards regular switch engines 

included 9413, 9428, 9435, 9443 and 9471. 

Although the Missouri Pacific Greenwood Branch was 

constructed as part of the Iron Mountain Railway, the 

line between South Fort Smith in Paris Arkansas was 

built as the independently owned and operated Arkan-

sas Central Railroad, Fort Smith oriented in both oper-

ation and management. From about 1910 to 1918, City 

National Bank President and Investor Isar H. 

Nakdimen promoted: 

1) Grade reductions and roadbed improvements 

2) Acquisition and improvements of the Subiaco short 

line between Paris and Scranton, connecting Fort 

Smith with a huge semi-anthracite coal deposit. 

3) Construction of a new railway between Scranton 

and Dardanelle, to form the Fort Smith, Subiaco & 

Rock Island Railroad. 

4) Leased, a Rock Island-controlled Dardanelle, Ola & 

Southern in 1920, connecting with the Rock Island at 



 

Page 3 - THE ARKANSAS SCRAMBLER   November 2018 

Ola, to form what could have provided a new and 

competitive Fort Smith service route.  

The MoPac was alert, and immediately purchased the 

Arkansas Central maintaining existing freight rates 

and preventing competition. With MoPac ownership, 

the Arkansas Central operation became a Van Buren 

oriented service. Extensive Fort Smith switching terri-

tory lay within an area bounded by the MoPac subsidi-

ary Fort Smith Suburban Railway, which formed a 

loop of trackage encircling the city, originally con-

structed to prevent competition. 

In 1938, the Midland Valley Railroad brought 

Ringling Brothers, Barnum & Bailey Circus to Fort 

Smith behind one of their 90 series Mikado Type en-

gines, too long to fit on the MVôs muscle powered 

turntable in Fort Smith. The MoPac extended use of 

their wye track to turn the engine, but such a move-

ment included rails extending onto the Gould Bridge 

for some fifty feet. In 1939, the MV again brought the 

circus to town, but meanwhile MoPac supervisors 

learned that weight of the MV 90 series engines ex-

ceeded the E-45 restrictions of the bridge. In depart-

ing, the MV circus train left on schedule, but their lo-

comotive operated backwards over the 15.84 miles of 

joint MV-Frisco trackage to reach the MVôs own rails 

at Rock Island, Oklahoma. 

Regular inbound MV traffic at Fort Smith seldom ex-

ceeded five carloads. The Colonial Bakery received 

flour from Wichita, Kansas; a carload shipment ex-

tending over the entire length of the railway. In addi-

tion, there were occasional movements of grain, live-

stock, feed, petroleum, coal, scrap metal, and the regu-

lar daily Less-Than-Carload (LCL) service. Outbound 

traffic was about equal, but heavy coal tonnage origi-

nated on their Greenwood Branch, and was waiting at 

Rock Island and other sidings for movement to Mus-

kogee for further interline movement to destinations at 

northern cities. 

Despite United States Railroad Administration 

(USRA) construction of a splendid new concrete coal 

chute at Fort Smith, the Frisco vowed never again to 

operate coal fired engines on their Central Division, 

following a violent United Mine Workers strike in 

1920-1922. Carload coal traffic for residential heating 

and industrial markets in northern cities continued to 

move from non-union mines along the Frisco branch 

July 11, 1948 finds Midland Valley 2-8-2 Mikado #91 working the yard in Miami, Oklahoma. - Arthur B. Johnson 

photo, Mike Condren collection 
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between Jenson and Mansfield, but all Central Divi-

sion motive power was 100% oil fired until 1947 

when dieselization between St. Louis, Memphis, 

Springfield, Kansas City and Wichita brought about 

assignment of surplus coal burning 4000-4032 series 

Mikado Type engines for use between Monett and 

Fort Smith.  Also included was a Frisco coal-fired 0-6-

0 switcher numbered 3674. 

The Frisco provided excellent St. Louis-Texas passen-

ger service via Fort Smith and Paris, Texas during ear-

ly 1900's, as a part of continuous train movements 

connecting St. Louis and Ft. Worth via the Santa Fe 

Railway. Fort Smith passenger service was curtailed 

when St. Louis-Texas traffic began movement on a 

joint Frisco-Missouri Kansas Texas (Katy) route that 

missed the city. By the 1930's, through service over 

ABOVE: Coal-fired 0-6-0 switcher #3674 in Friscoôs Fort Smith, Arkansas yard on November 3, 1948. - Arthur B. 

Johnson photo BELOW: Frisco 0-6-0 #3654 in Fort Smith service on the KCS ca. 1943. - Charles Winters photo 


